#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES, NEVADA DIVISION OF PUBLIC AND BEHAVIORAL HEALTH, MEDICAL MARIJUANA ESTABLISHMENT PROGRAM,

Appellant,

VS.

SAMANTHA INC., d/b/a
SAMANTHA'S REMEDIES, a Domestic
Corporation,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed
No.: 71123Oct 06 2016 11:36 a.m.
Tracie K. Lindeman
District Counter of Support Court

# APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

#### ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

Adam Paul Laxalt
Attorney General
LINDA C ANDERSON, ESQ.
Chief Deputy Attorney General
Nevada Bar No. 4090
555 E. Washington Avenue, Ste. 3900
Las Vegas, NV 89101
P: (702) 486-3077
Email: landerson@ag.nv.gov
Attorneys for Appellant

### JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Pursuant to NRS 233B.150, this is an appeal from the final order of the Eighth Judicial District Court which reviewed a decision of the Division of Public and Behavioral Health of the Department of Health and Human Services (hereinafter "the Division"). The petition for judicial review involved the scoring and ranking of an application for a medical marijuana dispensary in a competitive process for twelve dispensaries located in the City of Las Vegas. The final Order was filed July 27, 2016. (Appellant's Appendix, ("App.") pp. 35-37). Notice of Entry of Order with an unfiled copy of the Order was filed August 3, 2016. (App. pp. 145-155) The appeal in this matter was filed August 18, 2016 with the District Court and filed August 25, 2016 with the Nevada Supreme Court. (App. p. 160).

This case was the subject of a writ proceeding in the matter of *The State of Nevada Department of Health and Human Services, Division of Public and Behavioral Health vs. The Eighth Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada, In and For the County of Clark and the Honorable Douglas Smith, District Judge with Real Party in Interest Samantha Inc. d/b/a Samantha's Remedies, a domestic corporation, Case No. 67423. This full Court concluded that the Court's intervention by way of extraordinary relief was not warranted and denied the petition. The Division preserved the argument in their briefing on the petition for* 

judicial review but the District Court did not address the issue again in its final order.

(App. pp. 74-76) Therefore, the Division also appeals the order denying the dismissal of the petition for judicial review filed on February 13, 2016. (App. p. 33-34) Samantha's Remedies submitted the order but did not prepare a notice of entry of the order so the Division filed notice of entry on August 25, 2016 for the purpose of correcting any deficiency in this appeal. (App. pp.156-159)

# **ROUTING STATEMENT**

An administrative agency appeal is presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals. However, the Supreme Court heard the issue of first impression raised in the writ concerning judicial review of the registration of medical marijuana establishments.

# STATEMENT OF ISSUES

Did the District Court have subject matter jurisdiction to hear a petition for judicial review concerning a medical marijuana establishment when notice and opportunity were not required by law?

Did the Division err as a matter of law or abuse its discretion in scoring and ranking the application of Samantha's Remedies?

Did the District Court act in excess of its authority in ordering the Division to issue a registration if SAMANTHA REMEDIES was ranked in the top twelve in the

City of Las Vegas when twelve registrations had already been issued by the Division?

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND RELEVANT FACTS

The Division has the authority to issue certificates of registration for medical marijuana establishments pursuant to NRS 453A.322. The Nevada Legislature specified that the Division could accept applications only for ten business days once a calendar year as described in NRS 453.324(4). Further, the Legislature directed the Division to issue all resulting registrations within 90 days according to NRS 453A.322(3). The registration of dispensaries was a competitive process because Clark County was limited to 40 dispensaries with the Clark County Commission allocating 12 to the City of Las Vegas pursuant to NRS 453A.324 and NRS 453A.326.

The Division scored and ranked hundreds of applications using a tool developed according to the considerations set forth in NRS 453A.328 and the criteria set forth in regulation and the announcement of the application process by the Division. Each application included specific sections where the applicant was not identified to the reviewers to ensure objectivity in this competitive process. The Division relied solely on the applications submitted in their determination and the final scores for each section were the result of a comparison of similar applicants by

a consistent team of reviewers. The Division issued registrations during the prescribed 90 day time period which ended on November 3, 2014. In areas where a local government issued business licenses, any registration was deemed provisional by law until the establishment was in compliance with local requirements according to NRS 453A.326(3).

On December 8, 2014, SAMANTHA INC., doing business as SAMANTHA'S REMEDIES, a domestic corporation (hereinafter "SAMANTHA'S REMEDIES") filed a Petition for Judicial Review. (App. pp. 1-32) SAMANTHA REMEDIES challenged the decision of the Division because its application did not score in the top twelve dispensaries for the City of Las Vegas. On December 24, 2014, the Division filed a motion to dismiss the petition for judicial review. The District Court considered the pleadings and heard oral argument on January 27, 2015. On February 13, 2015, the Court issued an order denying the motion to dismiss.

In its Order, the District Court reiterated the argument brought by the Division that the review and ranking of the medical marijuana dispensaries applications was not a "contested case" for purposes of judicial review because the Nevada Legislature had designated such a registration as revocable privilege and did not provide an opportunity for hearing. However, the District Court concluded that

"judicial review must be available for this administrative decision." (App. pp. 33-34) The Division filed a writ to challenge the denial of the motion to dismiss. The District Court entered a stay of further proceedings on February 27, 2015 until the matter could be heard by the Nevada Supreme Court. The full panel of Nevada Supreme Court heard oral argument on October 6, 2015.

After the Nevada Supreme Court declined to rule on the merits of the writ on January 22, 2016, the matter returned to the District Court on February 16, 2016. Because the Nevada Legislature did not provide for any type of hearing in the application process and all records were confidential according to NRS 453A.700, the Division did not create a "record" that could be used for a meaningful review by a district court through the judicial review process created in Chapter 233B of the Nevada Revised Statutes. Therefore, the parties sought clarification of which confidential records should be produced to the Court as the record on review. In an order dated March 10, 2016, the District Court ordered that the application of SAMANTHA REMEDIES be filed with the court and the contents of the tool used by the Division to evaluate the application was ordered to be submitted for an in camera inspection. (App. pp. 35-37) Over the objection of the Division, the Court issued a minute order that the tool be produced to SAMANTHA REMEDIES at a hearing on March 29, 2016. (App. p. 38)

The Division filed twelve volumes consisting of 595 pages of the application on March 10, 2016. When SAMANTHA REMEDIES filed their opening brief, they alerted the Division that transmittal did not contain the non-identified criteria of the application. The Division corrected their error and filed an additional six volumes of the non-identified criteria response (which included the categories of Adequacy of Building Size; Care, Quality and Safekeeping; and Impact on the Community) on May 26, 2016. In addition, SAMANTHA REMEDIES submitted large blueprint size drawings and plans to the Court that were not part of the record filed by the Division.

The District Court heard argument on July 12, 2016. In addition to preserving the argument that the District Court lacked jurisdiction through a petition of judicial review, the Division argued that the Division was entitled to deference in its factual determinations and was not arbitrary or capricious. The Division pointed out that SAMANTHA REMEDIES scored very well with above average points in the following categories: 1) Taxes Paid and Beneficial Contributions; 2) Care, Quality, Safekeeping; and 3) Convenient to Serve Needs (more than double the average score). (App. p. 78) SAMANTHA REMDIES scored just a few points below the average score for the remaining categories: 1) Organizational Structure; 2) Likely Impact on the Community: 3) Adequacy of Building Size and Construction Plans.

(App. p. 78) Finally, the Division asked the Court to take judicial notice of the other cases disputing the ranking of the twelve dispensaries in the City of Las Vegas. (App. pp. 87-119)

The final Order filed July 27, 2016 directed the Division to set aside the score of SAMANTHA REMEDIES' application for a medical marijuana dispensary and re-evaluate the application separately and using criteria that would differ from the process used for other applicants. The Court instructed the Division to consider information contained in other sections of the application in reviewing the three areas where SAMANTHA REMEDIES scored lower than average. Further, the District Court ordered the Division to issue a registration to SAMATHA REMEDIES if the revised score resulted in SAMANTHA REMEDIES being ranked in the top twelve dispensaries in the City of Las Vegas. (App. pp. 137-144)

# **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Although this Court declined to rule on this issue when raised in a writ, the Division requests this Court to determine whether SAMANTHA REMEDIES can challenge the process of the Division in registering dispensaries in the City through a petition for judicial review in this appeal. Both the precedence of this Court as well as further confirmation by the Nevada Legislature establish that the District Court did not have subject matter jurisdiction to review this application process for

medical marijuana establishments under Chapter 233B of the Nevada Revised Statutes. The Division submits that the Nevada Legislature did not create a right to a petition for judicial review in Chapter 453A of the Nevada Revised Statutes for medical marijuana establishments.

In this case, the District Court did not give proper deference to the requirements set by the Nevada Legislature and implemented by the Division. The decision of the District Court demonstrates why the process provided in Chapter 233B is improper when there is no administrative hearing or clear record for the Court to review. Any review of this competitive application process should give other parties who are impacted the opportunity to participate and therefore a petition for judicial review is not appropriate.

# **ARGUMENT**

#### I. Standard of Review

The de novo standard of review is applied when this Court addresses purely legal issues, "including the administrative construction of statutes." *Holiday Ret. Corp. v. State, Div. of Indus. Relations,* 128 Nev. \_\_\_\_, 274 P.3d 759, 761 (2012). Otherwise, this Court reviews the administrative decision in the same manner as the District Court and factual findings of the agency should only be overturned if they are not supported by evidence that a reasonable mind could accept as adequately

supporting the agency's conclusions. *Elizondo v. Hood Mach., Inc.,* 129 Nev. \_\_\_\_, 312 P.3d 479, 482 (2013). Therefore, the factual determinations of the Division are reviewed by this Court for clear error "in view of the reliable, probative and substantial evidence on the whole record" or for an "abuse of discretion." NRS 233B.135(3)(e) and (f).

# II. District Court Lacked Subject Matter Jurisdiction to Hear a Petition for Judicial Review

NRS 233B.130(1) provides for judicial review of a decision by any party "who is identified as a party of record by an agency in an administrative proceeding" and is "aggrieved by a final decision in a contested case." NRS 233B.032 defines "contested case" to mean the following:

. . . a proceeding, including but not restricted to rate making and licensing, in which the legal rights, duties or privileges of a party are required by law to be determined by an agency after an opportunity for hearing, or in which an administrative penalty may be imposed.

This Court ruled that judicial review was not available for process server's licenses denied by the Private Investigator's Board because the statutes did not require notice and opportunity for hearing and thus, was not a "contested case." *Private Investigator's Licensing Bd. v. Atherley*, 98 Nev.514, 654 P.2d 1019 (1982). This Court has twice reviewed and cited to the *Atherley* decision with approval. *See*,

State, Purchasing Div. v. George's Equip. Co., 105 Nev. 798, 804, 783 P.2d 949, 953 (1989) (Hearing afforded an unsuccessful bidder on a government contract did not constitute a "contested case.") and Citizens for Honest & Responsible Gov't v. Secretary of State, 116 Nev. 939, 951, 11 P.3d 121, 129 (2000) (Legislature did not provide for a hearing to contest the decision of the validity of a recall petition by the Secretary of State.)

After this case was filed, the Nevada Legislature in 2015 codified the precedence of this Court by amending NRS 233B.127 to expressly provide that "[t]he provisions of NRS 233B.121 to 233B.150 do not apply to the grant, denial or renewal of a license unless notice and opportunity for hearing are required by law to be provided by the applicant before the grant, denial or renewal of the license." NRS 233B.034 continues to define "license" to include a "registration" as issued by the Division to medical marijuana establishments. "[W]here a former statute is amended, or a doubtful interpretation of a former statute rendered certain by subsequent legislation, it has been held that such amendment is persuasive evidence of what the Legislature intended by the first statute." In re Estate of Thomas, 116 Nev. 492, 495, 998 P.2d 560, 562 (2000) (citation omitted) Therefore, the Nevada Legislature clearly intended to only provide a right to judicial review for "contested cases" when the state agency provides notice and hearing before denying an application.

A review of the entire chapter of NRS 453A reveals that the Nevada Legislature did not intend to provide for notice and opportunity for hearing prior to a denial or revocation of a registration of a medical marijuana establishment. NRS 453A.320 provides the following:

The purpose for registering medical marijuana establishments and medical marijuana establishment agents is to protect the public health and safety and the general welfare of the people of this State. Any medical marijuana establishment registration certificate issued pursuant to NRS 453A.322 and any medical marijuana establishment agent registration card issued pursuant to NRS 453A.332 is a revocable privilege and the holder of such a certificate or card, as applicable, does not acquire thereby any vested right.

The Nevada Legislature provided that this "revocable privilege" does not implicate any property rights for due process concerns. This Court continues to follow the "plain meaning rule" to find that when "the words of the statute have a definite and ordinary meaning, this court will not look beyond the plain language of the statute, unless it is clear that this meaning was not intended." *Harris Associates v. Clark County School Dist.* 119 Nev. 638, 641-642, 81 P.3d 532, 534 (2003). Therefore, neither the Legislature nor the Division created any administrative hearing proceeding to appeal a denial or a revocation of a registration of a medical marijuana establishment which would meet the definition of a "contested case" for purposes of judicial review under Chapter 233B of the Nevada Revised Statutes.

The Nevada Legislature did not include language for notice and hearing for medical marijuana establishments in Chapter 453A of the Nevada Revised Statutes. Cf. NRS 449.170 (medical facilities and facilities for the dependent) and NRS 446.880 (food establishments) where Nevada Legislature explicitly provide for notice and hearing. Instead the Nevada Legislature provided for the revocation of the registration of an existing establishment "immediately" as set forth in NRS 453A.340 with no hearing process. The Nevada Supreme Court has ruled that statutes should be interpreted to avoid a reading which would render part of the statute redundant or meaningless when a substantive interpretation can be given. Board of County Comm'rs Clark County v. White, 102 Nev. 587, 590, 729 P.2d 1347, 1350 (1986). Because the Nevada Legislature allowed for the revocation of a registration without notice or hearing, applicants for the registration should not have the ability to petition a Court to review the competitive scoring and ranking of these confidential applications after the denial of an application for a "revocable privilege" of a registration of an establishment.

In contrast, the Nevada Legislature did give a direct right to judicial review, without any provision for notice and opportunity for hearing, to patients when an application for a registry identification card is denied according to NRS 453A.210 or revoked under NRS 453A.225, as well as when a request for a new qualifying

chronic or debilitating medical condition is denied under NRS 453A.700 by the Division. The Division submits that the omission of such language creating judicial review for establishments in the same chapter further underscores the conclusion that the Legislature did not intend to create such a remedy for judicial review for the denial of an application for a revocable privilege of a medical marijuana dispensary. The Nevada Supreme Court has recognized that where the legislature could easily have inserted exception language into the statute but chose not to, the court would not judicially create an exception. *State Dep't of Motor Vehicles & Public Safety v. Brown*, 104 Nev. 524, 526, 762 P.2d 882. 883 (1988).

Although the District Court found that "judicial review must be available for administrative decisions," the District Court did not address how NRS 233B can provide a remedy when the medical marijuana application process did not meet the definition of a contested case. (App. p. 34) It is the prerogative of the Legislature, not the Court to change or rewrite a statute. *Breen v. Caesars Palace*, 102 Nev. 79. 86-87, 715 P.2d 1070, 1075 (1986). The District Court did not have subject matter jurisdiction to hear this case under Chapter 233B of the Nevada Revised Statutes and should have dismissed this case as a matter of law.

# III. The Scoring and Ranking of the Application of SAMANTHA REMEDIES by the Division was Not Clear Error or An Abuse of Discretion.

If this Court finds that petition for judicial review is available, the scoring and ranking process used by the Division was appropriate. SAMANTHA REMEDIES challenged the decision of the Division because its application did not score in the top twelve dispensaries for the City of Las Vegas. As provided in Chapter 233B of the Nevada Revised Statutes, the decision of the Division in scoring and ranking applications for medical marijuana establishments is entitled to deference in this review. "The court shall not substitute its judgment for that of the agency as to the weight of evidence on a question of fact." NRS 233B.135(3). The assignment of a score was not a legal determination and instead the Division was required to make factual determinations in reviewing the applications. This Court has confirmed that

[a]n agency charged with the duty of administering an act is impliedly clothed with power to construe it as a necessary precedent to administrative action [and] great deference should be given to the agency's interpretation when it is within the language of the statute.

City of Reno v. Reno Police Protective Ass'n, 118 Nev. 889, 900, 59 P.3d 1212, 1219 (2002) citations omitted. The final decision of the agency shall be deemed reasonable and lawful until reversed or set aside in whole or in part by the court."

NRS 233B.135(2). Therefore, SAMANTHA REMEDIES has the burden in challenging the decision to demonstrate that the scoring by the Division was invalid.

In the District Court below, SAMANTHA REMEDIES argued that the Division was arbitrary and capricious but did not identify what score should have been assessed and only suggests that the score should have been higher. (App. pp. 39-66) SAMANTHA REMEDIES ignores the competitive nature of the application process when they suggest that their application should be reviewed in terms of total points possible rather than in comparison to other applicants. SAMANTHA REMEDIES takes an inconsistent position that the scoring process was arbitrary when SAMANTHA REMEDIES actually benefitted from the process that was used by the Division to be ranked so highly.

With the 90 day time period for assessing hundreds of applications, the Division had to rely on the information and explanation supplied by the applicant and did not conduct any independent inspection of the actual proposed establishment. The Division trained a team of contractors who utilized a standardized scoring tool. With the tool, the Division examined the applications with consideration of the following statutory "criteria of merit":

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