IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES, NEVADA DIVISION OF PUBLIC AND BEHAVIORAL HEALTH, MEDICAL MARIJUANA ESTABLISHMENT PROGRAM,

Appellant,

vs.

SAMANTHA, INC. d/b/a SAMANTHA'S REMEDIES, a domestic corporation,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed No: 711 Nov 23 2016 01:50 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

District Court Case No.: A-14-710874-J Dept. No.: VIII

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

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

ARGUMENT

I. A PETITION FOR JUDICIAL REVIEW IS PROPER WHEN AN ADMINISTRATIVE AGENCY'S FINAL DECISION VIOLATES NRS 233B.135(3)

Whether the lower court exceeded its statutory and judicial authority over the Division is a question that involves the balance of power between the judiciary and executive administrative agencies. Said balance of power is governed by an established area of administrative law, which deals with the scope of judicial review over varying types of administrative actions. In the instant matter, this Honorable Court is asked to consider whether the standards of judicial review apply to the Division's "final" decision in a licensing matter pertaining to a MME-Dispensary. Accordingly, the Court's ultimate consideration must involve "a determination as to when, under our constitutional system, judicial-type procedures must be imposed upon administrative action to assure fairness." *Mathews v. Eldridge*, 424 U.S. 319, 348, 96 S.Ct. 893, 909 (1976). Logically, courts owe a high standard of deference to an agency's legal conclusions and/or factual findings. Yet, when an agency's exercise of discretion is arbitrary and capricious or found to be in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions the court must intervene. As any person who suffers a legal wrong or is adversely affected by an administrative agency's action should have the authority to seek judicial review except where a statute specifically precludes it.

The threshold question for this Court is whether the "contested case" language contained in NRS 233B limits the ability of an aggrieved party to seek judicial review or, does it simply tie together the threshold requirements for ensuring a fair hearing and the corresponding judicial review process? Whether and to what extent a particular statute precludes judicial review is not determined solely by its express language but also from the structure of the statutory scheme, its objectives, legislative history and the nature of the administrative action involved. *Block v. Community Nutrition Inst.* 467 U.S. 340, 104 S.Ct. 2450 (1984).

Starting with the express language of NRS 233B.127, as amended by the 2015 Nevada Legislature², Appellant argues that it evidences a legislative intent "to *only* provide a right to judicial review for 'contested cases' when the state

² The legislative history for Assembly Bill 53, *2015 Nevada Legislature*, offers no reliable evidence that the amendments to NRS 233B.127 signal a legislative intent to preclude judicial review of matters which do not include the right to a hearing or, are identified as a "contested case."

agency provides notice and hearing before denying an application." *See*, Appellant's Opening Brief, pg 10. This argument rests on the question-begging premise that the relevant difference between a licensing decision *that does not require a hearing* and *one which does* is that only the latter is subject to judicial review. Furthermore, it fails to consider three critical factors: first, the structure of the statutory scheme and legislative intent behind Nevada's Administrative Procedures Act (hereinafter "APA"), and in particular NRS 233B.135; second, the objectives of NRS 453A; and, lastly, the specific actions of the Division in this case, and the necessity of judicial review to avoid an injustice.

A. Nevada Administrative Procedures Act

Nevada's APA was enacted to "establish minimum procedural requirements for the regulation-making and adjudication procedure of <u>all</u> agencies of the Executive Department of the State Government *and for judicial review of both functions*, except those agencies expressly exempted pursuant to the provisions of this chapter.³" NRS 233B.020 (emphasis added). The statutes most applicable to judicial review are NRS 233B.130-233B.135, which by and large set forth nondiscretionary procedural standards. In addition to the procedural obligations, NRS 233B.135(3) provides statutory authority for Respondent's position - that judicial review of administrative decisions is the rule and non-reviewability an exception.

³ The Department of Health and Human Services, Division of Public and Behavior Health is not an exempted agency under NRS 233B.039.

See, Barlow v. Collins, 397 U.S. 159, 90 S.Ct. 832 (1970). "In the absence of express statutory language prohibiting judicial review, a legislative intent to prohibit judicial review must be established by specific legislative history or other reliable evidence of intent." *Texas Dept. of Protective and Regulatory Services v. Mega Child Care, Inc.* 145 S.W.3d 170,199, 47 Tex. Sup.Ct. J. 116 (Tex 2004). To find otherwise would create an imbalance in the judicial system whereby only certain decisions (as determined solely by the administrative agency) would be subject to judicial review. *Cheung v. Dist. Ct.*, 121 Nev. 867, 124 P. 3d 550 (2005).

Clearly, Appellant disagrees with this position, arguing that the plain language of NRS 233B.127 coupled with this Court's holding in *Private Investigator's Licensing Bd. v. Atherley*, 98 Nev. 514, 654 P.2d 1019 (1982) support the position that sans a contested case judicial review will not lie. However, in determining whether there is clear legislative intent to preclude judicial review, courts should look for evidence such as "specific language or specific legislative history that is a reliable indicator of congressional intent,' or a specific congressional intent to preclude judicial review that is 'fairly discernible in the detail of the legislative scheme."' *Traynor v. Turnage*, 485 U.S. 535, 628, 108 S. Ct. 1372, 1378 (1989), citing, *Bowen v. Michigan Academy of Family Physicians*,475 U.S. 667, 673 (1986) (quoting *Block v. Community Nutrition Institute*, 467 U.S. 340, 349, 351 (1984)). Neither the text nor scant legislative history can provide the requisite "clear and convincing" evidence of a legislative intent to foreclose judicial review. *Johnson v. Robison*, 415 U.S. 361, 367, 94 S.Ct. 1160 (1974)).

As this Court has previously opined, the legal process due in an administrative forum should be flexible and call for such procedural protections as the particular situation demands. *Minton v. Board of Med. Exam'rs*, 110 Nev. 1060, 881 P.2d 1339 (1994) (overruled in part on different grounds). Pursuant to NRS 233B.135(3), courts have the wide latitude to act when a "final" decision of an agency violates constitutional or statutory provisions; is made in excess of the agency's statutory authority; is made upon unlawful procedure or error of law; is clearly erroneous in view of the substantial evidence on the whole record; or is arbitrary and capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion. This language coupled with the APA's presumption in favor of judicial review is "a repudiation of the principle that efficiency of regulation conquers all." *Sackett v. EPA*, 566 U.S. 120, 133; 132 S. Ct. 1367, 1374 (2012).

"[I]f the express provision of judicial review in one section of a long and complicated statute were alone enough to overcome the APA's presumption of reviewability....it would not be much of a presumption at all." *United States Army Corps of Eng'rs v. Hawkes Co.*, 136 S. Ct. 1807, 195 L. Ed. 2d 77 (2016). "On the federal level there is a reasonably developed doctrine that unless a statute

affirmatively precludes judicial review, there is a common law right of judicial review of administrative action." *The Revised Model State Administrative Procedure Act – Reform or Retrogression?* Harold Bloomenthal, 1963 Duke L.J. 593 at 622-23.

In addition, to the express language, the legislative history and the objective behind Nevada's APA this Court must also consider the nature of this case – specifically, the Division's egregious actions in evaluating Samantha's Application. As evidence by the District Court's Order, the Division's decision was not supported by substantial evidence and the Division acted arbitrarily and capricious in its evaluation of Samantha's Application. App. p. 137. Without question, judicial intervention in this instance is warranted.

B. NRS Chapter 453A

NRS 453A.320, states that "[t]he purpose for registering medical marijuana establishments and medical marijuana establishment agents is to protect the public health and safety and the general welfare of the people of this State." In furtherance of this declaration of purpose, the Legislature went to laudable care to establish licensing criteria that ensure that only the most qualified applicants are authorized to dispense medical marijuana. Despite the overarching obligation to protect the safety and general welfare of patients, the Division failed, on at least three (3) occasions, to follow the law. Specifically, during the 2014 application

process the Division issued two (2) Certificates of Registration to applicants who failed to demonstrate compliance with local zoning requirements⁴. *See*, NRS 453A.322(5) and NRS 453A.350. In both instances, the Division's actions were found to be in violation of the law and, pursuant to judicial order, Appellant was ordered to rescind said licenses.

Equally alarming is the Division's intentional failure to adopt regulations allowing for a review of its actions. Even though NRS 453A.370 directs the Division to adopt regulations which are necessary or advisable to carry out the provisions of NRS Chapter 453A. (emphasis added) by not doing so Appellant has attempted to prevent judicial scrutiny of its actions. Fortunately, there is a long standing presumption in federal law that "a person suffering legal wrong because of agency action, or adversely affected or aggrieved by [an] agency action within the meaning of a relevant statute, is entitled to judicial review thereof." Abbott Laboratories v. Gardner, 387 U.S. 136, 140, 87 S.Ct. 1507, 1511 (1967). See also, United States Army Corps of Eng'rs v. Hawkes Co., 136 S. Ct. 1807, 195 L. Ed. 2d 77 (2016). By failing to enact regulations which would allow for review of its actions, Appellant suggests that the legislature intended it to police itself. That standard would require that we accept the Division's word that it followed the law

⁴ See, Nuleaf Clv Dispensary, LLC vs. State, Dep't. of Health and Human Serv.'s, Case No. 69909 (Eighth Judicial District Court Case No. A-14-710597-C) and Desert Aire Wellness, LLC. vs. GB Sciences Nevada, LLC. Case No. 70462 (Eighth Judicial District Court Case No.A-15-728448-C).

and did not act arbitrary and capricious, whereas the very aim of judicial review is to verify that the Division based its review of Samantha's Application on substantial evidence and did not abuse its discretion. *See, Mach Mining, LLC v. EEOC,* 135 S. Ct. 1645, 575 US __, 191 L. Ed. 2d 607 (2015). "We need only know—and know that Congress knows—that legal lapses and violations occur, and specially so when they have no consequence. That is why this Court has so long applied a strong presumption favoring judicial review of administrative action." *Id.* at 1653; *See also, United States v. Zucca,* 351 U.S. 91, 76 S. Ct. 671 (1956).

Appellant further argues that NRS 453A (*Medical Marijuana*) does not provide for judicial review in matters pertaining to the licensure of MME'S. In fact it does. For example, each patient holding a medical marijuana prescription must apply for a patient identification card in order to be able to obtain and use medical marijuana in the State of Nevada. Pursuant to NRS 453A.210(6), in the event a patient is denied a patient card, the individual may seek judicial review as the denial is deemed to be a "final decision." Additionally, in order to qualify for participation in the medical marijuana program an individual must be affected by one of several identified illnesses. Pursuant to Division Regulation NAC 453A.200, an individual may petition for the addition of an illness to the list of approved conditions in order to be eligible for participation in the program. If the Chief Medical Officer denies the petition it is deemed a "final decision" for

purposes of judicial review. See NAC 453A.240. In both instances, there is no hearing thus, the matters are not "contested cases;" yet, the denied petitions are (by regulation) afforded the right to seek judicial review. Id. "The mere fact that some acts are made reviewable should not suffice to support an implication of exclusion as to others." Abbott, 387 U. S., at 141; See also Sackett, 566 U.S. 120, 132 S. Ct. 1367 (2012). Furthermore, Legislative intent cannot be based on the consideration of only one section of a statute but instead must be gathered from considerations of the entire statutory scheme. Minor Girl v. Clark County Juvenile Court Servs., 87 Nev. 544, 490 P.2d 1248, (1971) citing Carson City v. Red Arrow Garage, 47 Nev. 473, 225 P. 487 (1924). There is no reliable evidence to substantiate that the statutes applicable to MME licensing were uniquely designed to allow the Division the authority to arbitrarily and capriciously abuse its legislative responsibilities or enable the strong-arming of regulated parties into "voluntary compliance" without the opportunity for judicial review.

C. Nature of this Matter

Although deference is afforded to administrative agencies in their performance of discretionary functions, the Division's actions in this case far exceed the discretionary function authority and as such warrant judicial scrutiny. Without question, in an industry as specialized as medical marijuana – which requires heightened standards of security over the product (marijuana) and the operators – the obligation to ensure the safety and protection of patients cannot be ignored. As such, abuses and errors such as those committed by the Division in this case demand further procedural protections, including the right to judicial review. If left unbridled not only will aggrieved parties, like Respondent be prejudiced but so will Nevada's patients. Discretionary acts by an agency should be undertaken with a view for what is right and equitable under the subject facts and law.

Based on the argument set forth herein no preclusion of judicial review can be gleaned from either NRS 233B or NRS 453A, nor should it when the agency's actions cannot be supported by the record and are arbitrary and capricious.

II. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ERR WHEN IT FOUND THAT APPELLANT ARBITRARILY AND CAPRICIOUSLY EVALUATED SAMANTHA'S APPLICATION FOR A MEDICAL MARIJUANA DISPENSARY CERTIFICATE OF REGISTRATION

Appellant argues that the sole basis for Samantha's Petition was because its Application did not score in the top 12 dispensaries for the City of Las Vegas. While this statement is not factually inaccurate, it is disingenuous. As previously noted, any person who suffers a legal wrong or is adversely affected by an administrative agency's action should have the authority to seek judicial review.

Samantha's pursued this course of action because Petition for Judicial Review is the most applicable process of review relative to administrative decisions. It also felt compelled to do so in response to the obvious, glaring incongruences between its Application and the corresponding score issued by the Division. Respondent knew that the score was not reflective of the information they submitted and that the Division had failed to review Samantha's whole Application.

Consistent with the claims set forth in the Petition for Judicial Review, following a review of the ROR, the District Court properly found that Samantha's had in fact been prejudiced by the Division's "final" decision. NRS 233B.135(3).

A. Samantha's objection is with Appellant's arbitrary and capricious review of its Application

Pursuant to NRS 233B.135(3), a reviewing court shall hold unlawful and set aside an administrative action, its findings and conclusions, found to meet any one of the six separate standards contained therein. Without question, a final decision shall be set aside if the action was arbitrary and capricious. *Citizens to Preserve Overton Park v. Volpe*, 401 U.S. 402, 91 S.Ct. 814 (1971), citing 5 U.S.C. § 706. To make this determination a court must consider whether the decision was based on consideration of the relevant factors and whether there was a clear error of judgment. *Id.* In this case the District Court properly determined that Appellant's score of Samantha's Application was not based on relevant factors; similarly, it also correctly found that there was a clear error of judgement in the Division's handling of the MME application process, and in particular it's evaluation of Samantha's Application. App. p. 137.

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